Sy

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018

(Rev. 10-90

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
REGISTRATION FORM

This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties~
Register of Historic Places Registration Form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each |tem y

the information requested. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not appli r functions, architectural
classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategones from the instructions. Place additional entries and narrative
items on continuation sheets (NPS Form 10- 900a) Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer, to complete all items.

| L

! 'gt;;m w fo Complete the National
W Le"grgpr priate box or by entering

1. Name of Property

historic name DOWNTOWN ST. PETERSBURG HISTORIC DISTRICT

other names/site number N/A

2. Location

street & number Bounded by 5th Ave. N; Beach Drive NE; Central Ave., 9th Street N N/A [ not for publication

city or town  St. Petersburg NA [ vicinity

state  FLORIDA code FL _ countv Pinellas code___103  zip code 33701

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this [X] nomination

[] request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
[ meets [] does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

[ nationally [] statewide [X] locally. ((] See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

000G 3/

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

an?'“ggtate Historic Preservation Officer, Division of Historical Resources
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [J meets [J does not meet the National Register criteria. ((JSee continuation sheet for additional
comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

A

4. National Park Service Certification '

I hell'gl%certify that the property is: 0 V7" Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
entered in the National Register

O See continuation sheet

(C\ A s
O determined eligible for the U W( - / ) V("\, / /
National Register e 4 (s}
- o /- /7o) 0y

O See continuation sheet.
O determined not eligible for the
National Register
O See continuation sheet.
[0 removed from the National
Register.

O other, (explain)




DOWNTOWN ST. PETERSBURG HISTORIC DISTRICT

Pinellas Co., FL

Name of Property

County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box)
X private [ buildings
X public-local B district
O public-State [ site
X public-Federal O structure
[J object

Name of related multiple property listings
{Enter “N/A” if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include any previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
367 60 buildings
3 0 sites
11 0 structures
7 0 objects
388 60 total

Number of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register

12

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/Single Dwelling
DOMESTIC/Multiple Dwelling
COMMERCE/TRADE/Office Building
COMMERCE/TRADE/Specialty Store
RELIGION/Church
RECREATION/CULTURE/Outdoor Recreation
GOVERNMENT/City Hall
GOVERNMENT/County Courthouse

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/Single Dwelling

DOMESTIC/Multiple Dwelling

COMMERCE/TRADE/Office Building

COMMERCE/TRADE/Specialty Store

RELIGION/Church

RECREATION/CULTURE/Outdoor Recreation

GOVERNMENT/City Hall

GOVERNMENT/County Courthouse

7. Description

Architectural Classification
Enter categories from instructions)

See Continuation Sheet 10, Page 1

Narrative Description

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation Brick

walls Brick
Wood

roof Tar & Gravel

other

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark “x” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

X A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

[] B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

[ D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

[] A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

[[] B removed from its original location.

(] € a birthplace or grave.

] D a cemetery.

[J E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
[J F a commemorative property.

[ G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

ARCHITECTURE

COMMUNITY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

COMMERCE

ENTERTAINMENT/RECREATION

Period of Significance

c. 1888-1954

Significant Dates
c. 1888

Significant Person
N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder
Arch: Unknown

Blder: Unknown

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

[ preliminary determination of individual listing (36
CFR 36) has been requested

[ previously listed in the National Register

[J previously determined eligible by the National
Register

[] designated a National Historic Landmark

[ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey

#

[] recorded by Historic American Engineering Record

Primary location of additional data:

(X State Historic Preservation Office
[] Other State Agency
[] Federal agency
[] Local government
] University
(] other
Name of Repository
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Name of Property County and State

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 42 apprx.

UTM References
(Place additional references on a continuation sheet.)
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D See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitle Tim Clemmons/Rick Smith/Carl Shiver, Historic Preservationist

oraanization Bureau of Historic Preservation date January 2004
street & number R.A. Gray Building, 500 S. Bronough Street telephone _(950) 245-6333
citv or town Tallahassee state Florida zio code  32399-0250

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets
Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.
A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name

street & number teleohone

citv or town ' state zio code
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SUMMARY

The Downtown St. Petersburg Historic District comprises an assortment of mixed use buildings located
in or near the commercial core of the city of St. Petersburg, Florida. The buildings in the approximately 42 acre
area were erected between 1888 and 1954 and are grouped around three public parks. The mixed use character
of residences, hotels, churches, retail businesses, professional offices, and public buildings is distributed
throughout the district, but the majority of the commercial buildings are located along Central Avenue in the
southern section of the district. In addition to commercial buildings, the district contains numerous detached,
wood frame single family dwellings and apartment buildings that vary in type and style. Churches, public
buildings, commercial buildings, and large hotels represent the major masonry resources in the district. The
- majority of these buildings embody various early 20th century revival styles. The historical street pattern of the
downtown area of the city is based on a regular grid with three visual focal points: Williams Park, Straub Park,
and Mirror Lake Park. The historic district contains 367 contributing and 60 noncontributing buildings.

Twelve buildings in the district are already listed in the National Register of Historic Places. There are also
eleven contributing structures, seven contributing objects (statues), and three public parks in the district that are
counted as contributing sites.

SETTING

The city of St. Petersburg is located on the west coast of central Florida, in Pinellas County, at the south
end of the Pinellas Peninsula, which separates Tampa Bay from the Gulf of Mexico. Other communities found
on the peninsula, like Clearwater, Largo, Pinellas Park, and Gulfport have grown with St. Petersburg to form an
almost continuous urban landscape. St. Petersburg and its surrounding communities are part of the St.
Petersburg/Tampa metropolitan area which has a population of more than 2,000,000 residents. The city is
connected to Tampa and its environs by bridges across the bay, and to Bradenton and Sarasota by the Sunshine
Skyway Bridge across Tampa Bay and a part of the Gulf of Mexico. St. Petersburg has a subtropical climate
and is principally a resort and residential city. The economy depends largely on tourism through visitors to the
many beaches of the nearby barrier islands along the Gulf of Mexico. Focal points of downtown tourist activity
are Bayfront Auditorium and the Municipal Pier, both of which are located on Tampa Bay, and by Tropicana
Stadium, the home of the Tampa Bay Devil Rays major league baseball team.

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

The Downtown St. Petersburg Historic District is located in the northern portion of the original plat of the
city laid out in 1888 and revised in 1889. The plat is unusual for its era in having 100 foot wide street rights-of-
way. A number of blocks in the district are 400 feet wide by 420 feet long, with 20 foot wide alleys running east
to west. Lots in these blocks are usually 50 feet wide by 200 feet deep, but a number of these have been
subdivided or consolidated to suit the dimensions of the building or other property use. Many commercial lots
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are 40 feet wide by 100 feet deep on blocks which average 220 feet by 400 feet. The residential neighborhood
northwest of Mirror Lake was platted in a piecemeal fashion between 1890 and 1912 by many real estate
developers and the irregular street grid reflects this. Streets vary in width from 40 feet to 60 feet, and lots are
small, averaging 50 feet by 125 feet.

The historic district is bounded on the east by Straub Park and the shoreline of Tampa Bay, on the north
by the southern boundaries of the Northshore and Round Lake historic districts at Sth Avenue North, on the west
by 9th Street North, and on the south by 1st Avenue South. The demolition of historic properties south of 1st
Avenue South and west of 9th Street North that took place during the 1970s and 1980s have defined the southern
and western limits of the historic district.

Streetscape

Between 1905 and 1913 downtown streets were paved in brick with granite curbs. Asphalt would be
laid over most of the brick streets in downtown St. Petersburg by the 1940s with the only exceptions being in
the residential sections of the district north of Sth Avenue North and portions of the district north and west of
Mirror Lake. The city had an extensive streetcar system and rails existed on many of the district’s streets prior
to 1946, when the system was replaced by city buses. Street lighting was mounted on power poles but lamps on
decorative cast-iron standards were used along Central Avenue and the main streets of the central business
district. The most common type of historic sidewalk in the district consisted of hexagonal cast concrete pavers
with a diameter about 12 inches to 16 inches. The pavers were often red, dark gray, or green in color and laid in
geometric patterns. Most of the hexagonal block sidewalks in the district have been replaced with the more
familiar poured concrete rectangles, but some stretches of the historic sidewalks can still be found in some parts
of the district.

A Brief History Of The Green Bench

The first benches were an advertising device for a realtor named Noel Mitchell. In 1908 he had a St.
Petersburg craftsmen make him 50 benches that he painted orange. On the 50 benches he used a wide board
painted with his company logo and the slogan “Mitchell The Honest Realtor, The Sandman Never Sleeps.” This
probably indicated that customers could call him anytime to purchase real estate. He set two of these benches in
front of his business and soon folks would gather to rest their feet awhile and discuss important matters of the
day. When they would ask him where he got these fine benches, he would strategically offer them free to
people who were interested in having one for themselves. Soon enough his name was plastered across the city
and his business thrived because of this novel advertising scheme. Other businesses followed in his footsteps
and soon most buildings in the downtown core of St. Petersburg had benches out front of them.
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Until 1916 they were painted every imaginable color and though the concept was good, there was a need
for conformity. Mayor Al Lang passed an ordinance that called for all of the existing benches to be painted
green and that any new benches to be placed on any city streets shall be green. ' As the city grew, it became
famous for its hospitality mainly because of the extremely comfortable seating it offered its residents and
visitors. Many postcards featured photos of the city streets crowded with people sitting on green benches. In
the 1940s Time Magazine had a cover story on St. Petersburg & The City of Green Benches. In the 1960s
attitudes towards the Green Benches changed and city officials felt that the city was getting a bad image from
the mostly retired folks whiling away their time on the benches. The first idea for change was to paint the
benches pastel colors to make them look more hip. Then in 1969 they removed them altogether, in favor of
“streamlined” aluminum benches. In recent years some wooden benches modeled on the original green benches
have been reappearing in the downtown area.

Public Parks

Downtown St. Petersburg has three public parks that anchor the east, central, and west sections of the
district and have shaped the development of the downtown area almost since the founding of the community.
Williams Park, located in the center of the downtown district, was designated as a town square in the original
1888 plat. This 420 foot by 350 foot block of land retains its historic function and ambiance with a richly
planted grove of trees, mainly oaks. A steel and glass bandstand (Photo 1) is located on the north side of the
park. Erected in 1952, this structure replaced a 1920s concrete bandshell. A wooden gazebo bandstand stood
on the site from 1895 to 1921. The park also features a number of small monuments and markers
commemorating historic persons and events, including a memorial to soldiers from St. Petersburg who died in
World Wars I and II, and in remembrance of John C. Williams, co-founder of St. Petersburg, for whom the park
is named.

The district’s second oldest park is Straub Park, also known as Waterfront Park. It was created c. 1910
by dredging fill from what is now the north yacht basin. The park comprises a strip of land about 270 feet wide
between Beach Drive and Bayshore Drive and is bounded by 1st Avenue North on the south and 5th Avenue
North on the north. Located in the park is the noncontributing Museum of Fine Arts Building (Photo 2) ,
constructed in 1966. The park is landscaped with trees and palms, and two notable large Banyan trees (Ficus
mysorensis). In the mid-1920s the park was ornamented with cast concrete statuary. Facing Bayshore Drive
North are three statues of maidens about 7 feet high representing the seasons, while in the center of the park are
four pastoral statuary groups, each about six feet high, of shepherds courting shepherdesses (Photo 3). At the
northeast corner of Bayshore Drive and Second Avenue Northeast is St. Mary’s Comfort Station, an octagonal,
brick, Romanesque Revival style public restroom, a local landmark built in 1927 (Photo 4).

! Grismer, 277.
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Mirror Lake Park lies in the northwest section of the downtown district. Its natural lake (Photo 5)
served as the city’s fresh water reservoir until it was modified in 1910 to its current form. The city filled the
northern swampy one-third of the lake to create parkland and built a roadway encircling the lake. The sloping
bank between the drive and lake is landscaped with oaks, Sabal, Roystonea, and Phoenix species of palmettos.
The park features a 1940 Moderne style concrete sign (Photo 6) bearing the legend “Mirror Lake Park” which
faces the intersection of 6th Street and Mirror Lake Drive. The Carnegie Public Library (NR, 1986) was built in
1915 on the east side of the lake at 300 5th Street North (Photo 7). This one-story buff brick, Beaux-Arts style
building has a raised basement concealed by an earth berm and a cross gable roof covered with red clay tiles.
The library was completely restored between 1990 and 1993. A new addition has recently been constructed on
the south side of the library, replacing an earlier addition built in 1953.

Description of Building Types

The Downtown St. Petersburg historic district offers a mixture of commercial, civic, religious,
recreational, and residential buildings that reveal the development pattern of the city as a tourist and winter
destination. Since World War II the downtown area has suffered demolitions of such landmarks as the Florida
and La Plaza theaters, the Soreno Hotel, the 1911 St. Petersburg High School, and the 1913 First Presbyterian
Church, but still retains many historically and architecturally significant buildings that define its character.
Twelve buildings in the historic district are listed individually on the National Register of Historic Places.” Most
of the commercial buildings and hotels in the district range from one to three stories in height, although a few
buildings, like the eleven-story Snell Arcade (NR, 1977) at 405 Central Avenue (Photo 8) do rise above the
skyline, as do the steeples and bell towers of some of the churches. The prevalent construction materials for the
commercial, civic, and religious buildings are brick and concrete, and many of the buildings have stuccoed
exterior walls. Most of the residential buildings, and some small hotels and rooming houses, are constructed of
wood. The exterior siding for the residences varies from weatherboard, to drop siding and wood shingles. The
windows in all types of historic buildings in the district are either wood double hung sash or casement, both wood
and metal. Most of the commercial buildings have flat, built-up roofs, while the residential roof types reflect
those typical of the architectural style. Gable and hip roofs are common, but Mediterranean Revival style houses
may have flat roofs with parapets. Most commercial buildings stand at the rear edge of the sidewalk, but the
setback of the residential buildings varies according to the period in which they were constructed.

Mirror Lake Recreational Complex

In 1917 land north of the library on the corner of Fifth Street and Fourth Avenue became the home of
the St. Petersburg Lawn Bowling Club (NR, 1980) located at 536 4th Avenue North (Photo 9). This complex of
two paved courts and three small frame and masonry buildings was built in stages between 1918 and 1933. The

? See contributing building list.
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construction of a one-story senior citizens center (Photo 10) southeast of the facility in 1979-80 required the
removal of a portion of the bowling lanes.

The St. Petersburg Shuffleboard Club (Photo 11) complex at 559 Mirror Lake Drive, located
immediately west of the lawn bowling courts, is an assemblage of small stuccoed masonry buildings, seven
shuffleboard courts with over 100 concrete lanes, and a small tournament grandstand. Built in many phases
between 1924 and 1941, the Club’s structures and courts are configured randomly. This complex is well
maintained by the club members and has few alterations to its historic fabric. Located on a small parcel of land
between the Lawn Bowling Club and Shuffleboard Club is the St. Petersburg Chess Club (Photo 12). Itisa
small one-story Tudor Revival style clubhouse ornamented with half-timbering.

The St. Petersburg Coliseum (Photo 13) is located just north of the Shuffleboard and Lawn Bowling
clubs at 535 Fourth Avenue North. Now divided by a one-way east off-ramp of I-375, the Coliseum is part of
the Mirror Lake Park recreational complex serving complementary functions. This building combines features
of the Mission and Prairie styles and occupies a 120-foot by 190-foot area of land. The stucco over metal lath
structure has a curved roof that is supported by an unusual, semi-circular laminated wood truss system.

Churches

Tourists and winter residents spent about one-third of the year in the Sunshine City and consequently
created institutions and social networks to sustain their lifestyle there. The religious congregations served the
visitors’ spiritual needs and created a place for people to meet and socialize. The large seating capacity of most
of the historic downtown churches reflects the religious needs of the winter population rather than the number
of permanent parishioners. During the tourist season many of the churches became centers of the city’s social
and cultural events as well as being venues for religious worship. -

The nine existing and former churches located in the Downtown St. Petersburg Historic District are
some of its largest and most architecturally significant buildings. All but two were designed in the Gothic and
Mediterranean Revival styles. Three of the churches face onto Williams Park; two are located within three
blocks of Williams Park; three others face Mirror Lake or located nearby; and one lies south of Mirror Lake at
the intersection of 1st Avenue and 5th Street North. St. Peter’s Episcopal Cathedral (Photo 14) at 140-150 4th
Street North, built c. 1924, has a tan brick load bearing wall, and is designed in the English Gothic Revival
style. The former First Congregational Church (Photo 15) at 256 4th Street North was built in 1923 and is a
concrete block structure in the Gothic Revival style. The First Baptist Church (Photo 16), located at 120 4th
Street North, was built in 1923 in the Classical Revival Style using tan brick.

The First United Methodist Church (Photo 17), located at 212 3rd Street North is dominated by a large
corner bell tower (NR, 1990). Designed in the Gothic Revival style, this red brick church was constructed in
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1925. The First Church of Christ Scientist (Photo 18) located at 253 Fifth Avenue North is a tan brick
Renaissance Revival-style edifice built in c. 1925. Two of the three churches facing Mirror Lake were designed
in the Mediterranean Revival style. The First Christian Church (Photo 19) at 737 Mirror Lake Drive was built
c. 1925. The Unitarian Universalist Church (Photo 20) at 719 Arlington Avenue North was built c. 1929.
Trinity Lutheran Church (Photo 21) at 401 5th Street North is a tan brick Gothic Revival style church
constructed around 1924. Finally, Christ United Methodist Church (Photo 22), a Mediterranean Revival
building constructed in 1952, is located 467 1st Avenue North.

Public Buildings

Government related buildings within the historic district include two postal facilities, city hall and
associated office facilities, an existing and former county courthouse, and three educational facilities. Most of
these structures lie within view of Mirror Lake. The Open Air Post Office (NR, 1977), was constructed in 1917
(Photo 23) and designed in the Renaissance Revival style as a one-story terra cotta clad building located
opposite the southwest corner of Williams Park. The St. Petersburg City Hall (Photo 24), located at 175 5th
Street North was one of the last important Mediterranean Revival style buildings erected in the city, albeit with
a modernist interpretation. Financed by a Public Works Administration grant, City Hall was constructed
between 1937-1939 as the Municipal Utilities Building. The city’s former mail sorting facility (Photo 25),
another Mediterranean Revival building, is located at 863 3rd Avenue North.

Three original school buildings are located within the historic district, either facing Mirror Lake Park or
located about one block away. The oldest structure is the two-story brick vernacular style Manual Training
School constructed in 1900 (N.R. 1999). Situated east of City Hall at 440 2nd Avenue North, the building is
now used as the City Hall Annex (Photo 26). Two Mediterranean Revival style former public schools front
Mirror Lake Park on the north and northwest. The St. Petersburg Public High School, 701 Mirror Lake Drive,
(Photo 27) was constructed in 1917 and is now a residential condominium. In the next block southwest of the
high school is the St. Petersburg Junior High School at 296 Mirror Lake Drive, constructed in 1924, that now
serves as the Tomlinson Adult Education Center (Photo 28).

Hotels

Hotel buildings in Downtown St. Petersburg range greatly in size, type, and age. The rapid growth of
the city and the tourist industry caused many of the district’s buildings to be altered and enlarged as the city
gained more visitors. Among the early hotels in the district are the Detroit Hotel, the original section of which
was constructed c. 1888 (Photo 29); the St. Charles Hotel, c. 1903, (Photo 30); and the Bishop Hotel,
constructed c. 1912 (Photo 31). All three are located in the 200 block of Central Avenue or First Avenue North.
In addition, many pre-World War I single family residences located in the downtown area were altered and
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enlarged to be used as hotels during the 1920s and 1930s. A typical example of this type is the Nelson Hotel
(Photo 32) located at 430 5th Street North. .

Hotels built after 1918 were constructed of masonry and designed in a historical style. The Alexander
Hotel (NR, 1984) at 535 Central Avenue, constructed in 1922 (Photo 33), was among the first of this new type
of hotel. It has brick load bearing walls that rise five stories and a Beaux-Arts style facade with extensive cast
concrete ornament. The Renaissance Revival Hotel Cordova (Photo 34) , now called the Pier Hotel, at 253 2nd
Avenue North, constructed in 1921, also reflects the evolving character of downtown hotels after the First
World War. Two hotels, the Hillcrest (Photo 35), constructed ¢. 1923, and the Ambassador (Photo 36),
constructed c. 1925, are located next to one another at 220 and 226 5th Avenue North and are designed in the
Mission Revival style. The Bond (Hollander) Hotel at 421 4th Avenue North (Photo 37), constructed c. 1930, is
a muted example of the Mission Revival style.

The period from 1923 to 1926 saw the construction of the district’s largest hotels, including the Princess
Martha (Photo 38) at 411 1st Avenue North, constructed c. 1924; the Dennis (Photo 39) at 326 1st Avenue
North, constructed c. 1925 (NR, 1986); the Pennsylvania (Photo 40) at 300 4th Street North, constructed c.
1926; and the Vinoy Park (Photo 41), constructed c. 1925 (NR, 1978), located at 501 5th Avenue Northeast.
All are steel frame structures with fireproof construction, flat built-up roofs, and hollow tile exterior walls
veneered in brick; except for the Vinoy Park which has a stucco exterior.

The district’s Moderne style hotels of the mid to late 1930s returned to the smaller scale of the pre-

Boom hotels. Good examples of this hotel type are the Bay Plaza Hotel (Photo 42) at 419 3rd Avenue North,
constructed c. 1930, and the Randolph Hotel (Photo 43) at 200 4th Street North, constructed c. 1940.

Residential Buildings

1. Single-Family Dwellings

The Downtown St. Petersburg Historic District has a large number of detached, single-family residences
that were constructed in close proximity to the commercial section of the city during the early years of the
community’s development. Although most of the early residential buildings once found immediately south and
southwest of the commercial corridor have been demolished, many of those along 5th Avenue North and in the
Lake Mirror area have survived. Starting in the 1890s, single-family vernacular residences built with Queen
Anne decorative influences were constructed in the area between First and Fifth Avenues North from Beach
Drive to Mirror Lake. Sanborn maps from 1898 to 1908 show the houses in this area varied in size and
exhibited footprints ranging from small, rectangular cottages to large irregular residences. The houses were set
back 10 to 15 feet from the front lot line. Side setbacks varied according to lot size, but a minimum 5-foot side
setback was the norm.
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The rapid commercialization of this area during the 1920s boom years prompted homeowners who still
occupied houses in the present commercial corridor to move to new residential developments on the fringes of
downtown. The downtown houses that were not demolished were usually converted into small hotels, boarding
houses, and apartment buildings Therefore, many of these buildings have dual significance as early settlement
period residences of the city’s pioneer families and later as tourist lodgings. Some of the earliest residences
include the 1905 Davenport House (Photo 45) at 259 4th Avenue North (Photo 44), the 1904 Bussey House
located at 211 4th Avenue North, and the c. 1905 Bay Gables (Photo 46) located at 136 4th Avenue Northeast,
all of which are good examples of larger residences with Queen Anne style design features.

The Veillard House, constructed in 1910 (NR, 1986), located at 262 4th Avenue North (Photo 47 ) has a
corner tower and stained glass windows. The house is built of rusticated concrete block. The use of decorative
concrete as a building material first appeared in St. Petersburg around 1910 and became very popular during the
1910s and 1920s.

Some of the early single family houses still surviving in the downtown district are Frame Vernacular,
like the two-story house at 500-510 3rd Street North (Photo 48), constructed c. 1910, and the residence at 309
5th Avenue North (Photo 49), constructed c. 1904.

The Craftsman/Bungalow style became the most popular residential style in the city by the 1910s and
remained the dominant style through the 1920s. By 1915, most of the lots in the downtown area were no longer
available for residential development, except in the area west of Mirror Lake, where the bulk of the district’s
bungalows can be found. The majority of the bungalows in the district have weatherboard siding, or in some
instances stuccoed exterior walls. Windows are typically wooden double-hung sash, but wooden casements
were also popular. Roofs are generally front-gable and sheathed with asphalt shingles. Some notable of
bungalows in the district include the residence at 126 5th Avenue North, constructed c¢. 1920 (Photo 50) and
142 5th Avenue North, erected c. 1920 (Photo 51).

2. Apartment Buildings

The apartment buildings distributed throughout the district were built mainly to house seasonal
residents. The buildings are both frame and masonry construction, rectangular in plan and generally two to
three stories high. Access to living units is typically via interior central hallways or by way of exterior porches
and stairs. The apartment units average 350 to 450 square feet and usually consist of one or two small rooms, a
bath, and a small kitchen. In style these apartments range from cheaply constructed Frame Vernacular buildings
to elegant, masonry Mediterranean Revival buildings. The Miramar Apartments at 442 5th Avenue North
(Photo 52), constructed c. 1923, is a good example of an early frame apartment building downtown, as is the
apartment building at 217-219 8th Street North (Photo 53), which was constructed c. 1919. Among the larger
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apartment buildings are the LaSalle Apartments (Photo 54) at 610 5th Avenue North, constructed ¢. 1921, and
the Poulsen Apartments (Photo 55) at 215-217 5th Street North, also constructed c. 1921.

The Lantern Lane Apartments (Photo 56) located at 340 Beach Drive Northeast, constructed c. 1923, is
a good mid-1920s example of a Mediterranean Revival style apartment building. A good example of the
Mission style is the building at 409 8th Street North (Photo 57), which was constructed c. 1922. An even more
striking example of the Mission style is the Hunt Apartments at 442 3rd Avenue North (Photo 58), constructed
c. 1921. Other apartments whose designs were influenced by the Mission and Mediterranean style include the
Executive Apartments (Photo 59) at 221 5th Ave North, constructed c. 1928 and the building at 324 Grove
Street North (Photo 60), also constructed c. 1928. The largest apartment building in the district is the seven-
story Mediterranean Revival style, Flori-de-Leon Apartments (Photo 61) at 130 4th Avenue North, constructed
c. 1927.

Secondary and garage apartments were also important building types that provided housing for St.
Petersburg’s permanent and temporary residential population. These buildings tend to be located in close
proximity to single-family dwellings that have been converted to multifamily use or to larger apartment
buildings. Usually located on alleys, these buildings are generally vernacular in design. Examples include the
buildings at 145A 4th Avenue North (Photo 62), constructed c. 1923 and 324A 2nd Street North (Photo 63),
constructed c. 1925. Garage apartments are two-story buildings with garages on the first story and apartments
upstairs, such as the building at 326A Sth Avenue North (Photo 64), constructed c. 1921.

Commercial Buildings

b (13

Central Avenue was the city’s “main street” from the time of its inception through the early 1950s and
exhibits a variety of smaller and larger scale commercial buildings. While noted for some of its larger
commercial structures, much of the Downtown St. Petersburg Historic District is composed of one- to three-
story masonry vernacular buildings. Construction during the 1920s added height to the city’s skyline and
provided it with distinctive architectural styles. Redevelopment and increased density occurred during each of
the city’s boom periods and, therefore, few pre-World War I structures have survived. Zero-lot-line zoning and
masonry construction is typical of buildings along Central and First Avenue North. The earliest surviving
buildings were constructed with brick or concrete block load bearing walls and are one or two stories high.
They typically have flat roofs and are built on grade. Ground floors are concrete slab or often “hex-block”
pavers laid on compacted sand. These buildings featured commercial shops on the ground floor and had either
offices or residential rental rooms on the second floor.

One and two-part block buildings were, and remain, a common building form in downtown.
Characterized by a single use, with either one or two floors, this building form was constructed throughout the
historic period in the district. The former Orange Blossom Cafeteria (Photo 65) located at 220 4th Street
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North, constructed c. 1935, is a good example of the one-part block building, embellished with tanned polished
brick complete with a Mission parapet and details.

Shopping arcades were a common building type in downtown St. Petersburg, numbering about a dozen
during the historic period. Remaining examples of this type of buildings are the Crislip Arcade (Photo 66) at
641-647 Central Avenue, constructed c. 1925; the Green Richman Arcade (Photo 67) at 689 Central Avenue
(NR 1998), constructed c. 1924; and the Snell Arcade (NR, 1977) at 405 Central Avenue (Photo 8).

Except for the Boom Period hotels most of the commercial buildings in downtown St. Petersburg
remained low-rise edifices. One notable exception, in addition to the Snell Arcade, was the Kress Building

(NR, 2001) at 475 Central Avenue, which was constructed in 1927 (Photo 68).

Williams Park Bandshell

The glass and steel bandshell (Photo 1) was built in 1952 and designed by William Harvard, Sr., who
was also responsible for designing the current St. Petersburg Pier. The Bandshell won an AIA award in the
1950s.

Major Alterations to the District

The Downtown St. Petersburg Historic District has been modified primarily through urban
redevelopment during the 1950s, 1960s and 1970s. This includes construction of new buildings, the renovation
of existing historic buildings with new exterior finishes, and the demolition of historic buildings leaving vacant
lots. Most noticeable are the new county government buildings constructed in the 1970s along the southeast
shore of Mirror Lake, and the extensive demolition in the 1880s of buildings between 1st and 2nd Streets North,
east of the historic district. The most recent demolition of historic buildings has occurred within the past two
years along 1st Avenue North at 5th Street North to create street level parking.

A number of the contributing historic buildings in the district have experienced various degrees of
modifications that took place more than 50 years ago. These changes may include new exterior finishes,
window replacement, enclosed porches, and rear additions. Two examples of buildings exhibiting historical
alterations are the Gower Apartments (Photo 69) at 131 4th Avenue North, constructed c. 1901, that had a
masonry facade grafted onto it c. 1951 and the former single family dwelling at 460 3rd Street North (Photo
70), also constructed c. 1901, which received stuccoed masonry additions ¢. 1950. Historic buildings altered in
more recent years yet still contributing include the Suwannee Hotel (Photo 71) at 501 1st Avenue North , which
was constructed c. 1922 and renovated around 1980 and the Garden Piano Exchange (Photo 72) at 232 2nd
Street North which was constructed ¢. 1923 and altered in the late 1960s.
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The historic district has sustained a number noncontributing intrusions within its boundaries and on its’
periphery that have affected its integrity. In the Mirror Lake area, the Pinellas County Courthouse (Photo 73) at
501 1st Avenue North is a example of brutilism architecture that was constructed in 1966. The seven-story
Sebring Building (Photo 74) at 525 Mirror Lake Drive constructed c. 1968 is a typical example of modemn
modular architecture. The parking garage (Photo 75) associated with the Suwannee Hotel (Photo 71) and the
Legal Building (Photo 76) at 447 3rd Avenue North were built in the 1970s and 1980s. Two major intrusions
located in the middle of the district are the United Bank building (Photo 77) at 333 4th Street North, the site for
which occupies an entire city block, and the Huntington Townhomes (Photo 78) at 350 2nd Street North, which
were built c. 1998.

Contributing and Noncontributing Resources

Contributing resources in the Downtown St. Petersburg are those which have been documented with a
Florida Site File and built before 1954 and largely retain their architectural integrity. Noncontributing resources
are those which were built after 1954 or have been significantly altered and no longer retain their architectural

integrity.
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Inventory of Contributing and Noncontributing Resources

Based on survey and mapping work, 388 contributing buildings, structures, sites, and objects have been

identified in the Downtown St. Petersburg Historic District. There are 67 noncontributing buildings, but no
other types of noncontributing resources. This count indicates 84% of all resources counted are contributing to
the significance and character of the district.

CONTRIBUTING BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES

Address Use

1st Avenue N

208-226 Retail/w Apts.
242-248 Retail/w Apts.

256-260 Hotel
326-330 Hotel

336 Retail/w Apts.
400 Post Office
401-411 Commercial
451 Offices

467 Church

501 Offices

669 Offices

685 Offices

699 Offices

701 Offices

721 Offices

1st Street N

133 Offices

340 Apartments
341 Apartments
350 Apartments
356 Apartments
432 Retail

2nd Avenue N

253 Hotel
440-442 City Hall Annex
465 Offices

745 Single Family Dwelling

Site Name

Benson’s Gold Star Lounge
Bishop Hotel
Hotel Dennis (NR)

Women’s Town Improvement Ass.

Open Air Post Office (NR)
Princess Martha Hotel
Christ United Church
Christ United Church
Suwannee Hotel

Invesco Real Estate
Englander & Fischer, PA

Gordon Arms Apartments
Vinoy Market

Hotel Cordova
Manual Training School (NR)

Masonry Vernacular
Mission

Masonry Vernacular
Renaissance Revival
Renaissance Revival |
Mediterranean Revival

"~ Beaux-Arts

Masonry Vernacular
Mediterranean Revival
Mediterranean Revival
Masonry Vernacular
Masonry Vernacular
Masonry Vernacular
Masonry Vernacular
International Style

Mediterranean Revival
Frame Vemacular
Frame Vernacular

Art Deco

Frame Vemacular
Masonry Vernacular

Renaissance Revival
Masonry Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

o o060

cooo0000000000D

000000

. 1920

1924
1912

. 1925
. 1913

1920
1924
1952
1952
1922
1951
1944

. 1940
. 1920
. 1930

.1923
. 1916

1916
1940

. 1916
. 1920

.1921
. 1900
. 1935
.1920

FMSF #

PI03053
PI110466
P100312
P100301
PI00311
P100223
P100280
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
PI10415
P110423

Pending
PI10312
PI10313
PI10314
PI10315
PI10416

P1I00304
P100307
Pending
PI10427
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2nd Avenue N (cont.)
745A Duplex — " Frame Vernacular c. 1920 P110427
2nd Avenue NE
100 Offices — — c. 1925 Pending
126 Hotel — Frame Vernacular c. 1921 Pending
— Public Restrooms St. Pete Comfort Station Romanesque Revival c. 1920 P100276
2nd Street N
25 Offices Tropicana Hotel Masonry Vernacular c. 1925 P103054
232 Piano Store Garden Cafeteria Mission c. 1923 P103043
256 Restaurant/Lounge * The Corner Frame Vernacular c. 1937 P110468
300 Apartments West Coast Inn Frame Vernacular ¢. 1900 P100260
308 Apartments Sunray Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI110470
308A Duplex — Masonry Vernacular c. 1925 PI10470
316 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1920 PI10471
323 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1923 PI110472
324 Apartments Spanish Oaks Retirement Center ~ Frame Vernacular c. 1900 PI10473
324A Duplex — Masonry Vernacular c. 1925 PI10473
325 Apartments Lee Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1910 PI10475
357 Hotel Carleve Hotel Masonry Vernacular c. 1938 PI10476
416 Apartments — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1920 P110477
416A Duplex — Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 P110477
424 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1915 P110478
424A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10478
436 Offices — Prairie c. 1915 PI10317
436A Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1915 P110317
522 Garage Apartment — Masonry Vernacular c. 1925 P110480
524 Duplex — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1925 P104326
525 Duplex — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI100700
3rd Avenue N
219 Hotel Campbell Hotel — c. 1920 P110430
227 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1913 PI10431
234 Hotel Heritage Hotel Masonry Vernacular c. 1924 PI03098
235 Apartments Oak Lodge Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1910 P103040
235A Garage Apartment — Frame Vemacular c. 1903 P103040
245 Apartments Monticello Apartments Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 P100284
245A Garage Apartment — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 P100284
342 Apartments Lee Manor Apartments Mission c. 1920 P110434
419 Hotel Bay Plaza Hotel Art Moderne c. 1930 P110396
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3rd Avenue N (cont.)
419A Hotel Annex — Masonry Vernacular c. 1930 PI10396
419B Hotel Annex — Masonry Vernacular c. 1930 PI10396
420A Apartments Luceme Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1916 P110410
420B Garage Lucerne Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10410
435 Apartments Biltmore Apartments Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1916 PI10405
435A Apartments . Biltmore Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1916 P110405
442-446 Apartments Hunt Apartments Mission c. 1921 PI110407
737 Church First Christian Church Spanish Colonial c. 1927 PI110334
819 Apartments — Masonry Vernacular c. 1916 P110334
819A Garage Apartment — Frame Vernacular c. 1916 P110334
824 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 P110435
824A Garage — Frame Vemacular c. 1920 PI10435
832 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vemacular c. 1920 P110436
832A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 P110436
833 Single Family Dwelling  — Frame Vernacular c. 1916 PI110336
833A Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1916 PI110336
833B Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1916 PI10336
840 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1920 P110437
840A Garage Apartment — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 P110437
841 Apartments — Frame Vemacular c. 1915 P110337
841A Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vemacular c. 1915 P110337
863 Food Bank Mail Sorting Annex Mission c. 1927 P110338
3rd Street N
133-163 Retail Museum Row Masonry Vernacular c. 1935 PI10482
211 Apartments Mitchell Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1912 PI10483
212 Church First United Methodist Clurch (NR) Gothic Revival c. 1924 PIO088S
225 Hotel Stanton Apartments Annex Masonry Revival c. 1940 P110484
232 Duplex —_ Frame Vermacular c. 1918 PH10485
232A Duplex — Masonry Vernacular c. 1928 PH10485
233 Apartments Endicott House Shingle c. 1915 PH03044
241 Hotel Whitney Hotel Masonry Vernacular c. 1925 P110486
252 Offices Schuh Building Masonry Vernacular c. 1953 Pending
259 Law Offices Skelton, Willis & Bennett Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1920 P110487
341 Apartments Victoria Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1924 P103035
415-419 Apartments Sunrise Apartments Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 PI110488
423-427 Apartments — Mission c. 1925 P110489
432 Retail/Apartments — Mission c. 1922 PI10318
460 Apartments Dr. Peabody’s Frame/Masonry Vemacular c.1901/1950  P1I00300
500-510 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1910 PI100693
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3rd Street N (cont.)
500-510A  Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 P100693
524 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI10490
4th Avenue N
130 Apartments Flori-de-Leon Apartments Mediterranean Revival c. 1927 PI100883
131 Apartments Gower Apartments International Style ¢. 1901 P110438
145 Apartments Southland Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1923 P110439
145A Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1923 P110440
159 Apartments North Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10441
205 Apartments Parsley House Mission c. 1920 P103034
205A Garage Apartment — Masonry Vernacular c. 1930 P103034
211 Offices Bussey House Frame Vernacular c. 1915 P110443
219 Hotel Mount Vernon Hotel Frame Vernacular c. 1936 P110443
249 Apartments Sarven Apartments Frame Vemacular c. 1922 P100273
259 Offices Davenport House Queen Anne c. 1905 PI110444
262 Residential Veillard House (NR) Queen Anne c. 1901 P100263
301 Apartments Colony Apartments Masonry Vernacular c. 1950 P110445
301A Apartments — Masonry Vernacular c. 1950 P110445
301B Apartments — Masonry Vernacular c. 1950 PI110445
301C Apartments — Masonry Vernacular c. 1950 PI10445
301D Apartments — Masonry Vernacular c. 1950 P110445
343 Hotel Clinton Crest Frame Vernacular c. 1916 P110343
414 Offices Tourtelot Brothers, Inc. Masonry Vernacular c. 1950 PI10344
421 Hotel Bond (Hollander) Hotel Masonry Vernacular c. 1930 PI110345
435 Apartments Lee Plaza Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1916 P110398
435A Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1916 P110398
443 Hotel Avalon Inn Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 P110399
443A Garage Apartment — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI110400
453 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1916 P110397
453A Garage Apartment — Frame Vernacular c. 1916 PI110397
535 Coliseum St. Petersburg Coliseum Mediterranean Revival c. 1924 PI100306
536 Clubhouse St Petersturg [ awn Bowling Club(NR) Mediterranean Revival c. 1933 PI00751
536A Workshop Bowls Testing Building Masonry Vernacular c. 1940 PI100751
536B Bowling Court #1 — N/A c. 1924 PI00751
536C Bowling Court #2 — N/A c. 1924 PI00751
538 Clubhouse St. Petersburg Chess Club Tudor Revival c. 1922 PI10346
704 Garage Apartment — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10347
706 Single Family Dwelling  — Frame Vemacular c. 1920 PI10348
718 Single Family Dwelling  — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1920 PI10349
730 Apartments — Masonry Vernacular c. 1915 PI10350
746 Apartments — Queen Anne c. 1916 PI01713
754 Single Family Dwelling — Masonry Vemacular c. 1920 PI10351
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4th Avenue N (cont.)
754A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10351
755 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1926 PI10352
770 Offices Rosemary Antiques Mediterranean Revival c. 1952 PI10353
773 Duplex — Bungalow c. 1924 PI10354
T13A Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1951 PI10354
779 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1921 P110355
803 Garage Apartment — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 P110357
804 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI10358
804A Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vemacular c. 1925 PI10358
805 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 P110359
809 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI110360
809A Garage Apartment — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI10360
812 Apartments — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1921 PI10361
814 Duplex — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1921 PI10362
814A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1921 PI110362
840 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1928 P110448
852 Single Family Dwelling — Masonry Vernacular c. 1928 PI10385
858 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1925 PI110387
4th Avenue NE
116 Apartments —_— Frame Vernacular c. 1916 P110339
118 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1919 PI10340
126 Hotel Morrison Hotel Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1910 PI10341
136 Apartments John Smith House Queen Anne c. 1910 PI11889
146 Offices Henry-Bryan House Frame Vernacular c. 1916 PI10342
4th Street N
120 Church First Baptist Church Classical Revival c. 1924 P100884
136 Church Offices St. Peter’s Cathedral (Episcopal) ~ Masonry Vernacular c. 1952 Pending
140 Church Activities St. Peters Cathedral (Episcopal) Gothic Revival c. 1924 P100275
150 Church St. Peter’s Cathedral (Episcopal)  Gothic Revival c. 1924 PI00275
200 Hotel Randolph Hotel Masonry Vernacular c. 1940 P103046
208 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 P110492
219 Church Offices St. Peter’s Cathedral (Episcopal)  Art Moderne c. 1938 PI10493
220 Retail Orange Blossom Cafeteria Mediterranean Revival c. 1935 PI103045
230-236 Apartments Coburn Apartments Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 P110494
240 Offices Pilgrim Hall Masonry Vernacular c. 1923 P100887
256 Vacant First Congregational Church Gothic Revival c. 1923 P110495
300 Hotel Pennsylvania Hotel Masonry Vernacular c. 1926 P100282
314-330 Retail Keystone Club Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 PI10496
417 Apartments Hamilton Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1913 PI10319
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4th Street N (cont.)
419 Apartments Cunningham House Frame Vernacular c. 1907 P110320
419A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10320
428 Retail — Frame Vernacular c. 1935 Pending
430 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1913 PI110321
434 Hotel Wirick Hotel Moderme c. 1920 PI110498
Sth Avenue N
111 Apartments Veranda Lodge Frame Vernacular c. 1920 P103162
118 Retail Olivia’s Flowers Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1924 PI10451
118A Garage Apartment — Frame Vernacular c. 1924 PI10451
121 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1910 PI04312
121A Single Family Dwelling = — Frame Vernacular c. 1910 P104312
126 Apartments — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1920 P110452
127 Single Family Dwelling  — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1920 P104313
127A Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 P104313
127B Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 P104313
135 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1910 PI04314
136 Antique Store — ' Colonial Revival c. 1920 PI10453
142 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1920 PI10454
142A Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10454
142B Shed — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10454
145 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1920 PI04260
155 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 Pending
205 Apartments Fifth Avenue Apartments Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 P104317
211 Apartments The Executive Frame Vernacular c. 1925 P110457
216 Apartments Ambassador Hotel Masonry Vernacular c. 1925 PI10363
220 Hotel Hillcrest Hotel Mission c. 1923 PI110364
220A Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1930 PI10364
221 Apartments Executive Apartments Mission c. 1928 PI104318
221A Garage — Masonry Vernacular c. 1928 P104318
225 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10458
226 Apartments Barnum Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1926 PI00608
236 Apartments — Craftsman/Bungalow - c. 1924 PI10365
253 Theater First Church of Christ Scientist Renaissance Revival c. 1925 P104320
253A Storage Building — Masonry Vemacular c. 1925 P110459
309 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1904 P104408
319 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 P100684
319A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI00684
326 Apartments Blocker Villa Apartments Frame Vernacular c. 1921 PI100842
326A Garage Apartment — Frame Vernacular c. 1921 PI100842
326B Single Family Dwelling — Frame Veracular c. 1921 PI100842
327 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI00688
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Sth Avenue N (cont.)

327A Duplex

327B Garage Apartment
335 Apartments

335A Single Family Dwelling
340 Single Family Dwelling
341 Offices

341A Garage Apartment
432 Offices

432A Garage

442 Apartments

442A Duplex

442B Shed

450 Hotel

450A Apartments

466 Apartments

466A Garage

610 Apartments

Sth Avenue NE

105 Apartments

105A Apartments

105B Apartments

115 Apartments

115A Apartments

Sth Street N

175 Government
215-217 Apartments

233 Apartments

249 Apartments

300 Public Library
319-325 Offices

401 Church

426 Duplex

426A Utility Building
430 Apartments

430A Duplex

6th Street N

33 Offices

C.M. Blanc Building No. 2

Casa Administration Offices

Miramar Apartments
Avon Hotel

LaSalle Apartments

Mansion House

St. Petersburg City Hall
Poulsen Apartments
DeVoe Apartments
Park View Apartments

St Petersburg Public Library (NR)

Trinity Lutheran Church

Nelson Hotel

Masonry Vernacular
Masonry Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Masonry Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Craftsman/Bungalow
Frame Vemacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Masonry Vernacular
Craftsman/Bungalow
Frame Vernacular
Masonry Vernacular

Frame Vernacular
Frame Vemacular
Masonry Vernacular
Prairie

Masonry Vernacular

Mediterranean Revival
Masonry Vernacular
Masonry Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Mediterranean Revival
Masonry Vernacular
Gothic Revival

Frame Veracular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vemacular

Modernist

. 1940
. 1925
1925
1925
1925
1947
1920
1920
1920
1923
1923
1923
1923
1923
1930
. 1930
. 1921

POPO000000000000000

. 1920
. 1920
1920
1920
. 1920

0oo0o0o0o0

c. 1939
c. 1921
c. 1920
c. 1919
¢. 19151950
c. 1941
c. 1924
c. 1930
¢/ 1930
c. 1909
c. 1909

c. 1953

PI00688
PI00688
P104407
P104407
PI10366
P104406
P104406
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7th Street North
108 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1915 PI10505
114 Apartments Mirror Lake Apartments Measonry/Frame Vemacular c. 1920 PI110327
338 Apartments — Masonry Vernacular c. 1954 PI10326
344 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI10507
344A Duplex — Masonry Vernacular c. 1947 P110507
350 Apartments — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1925 PI10327
8th Street North
15 Offices — Masonry Vermacular c. 1925 P110508
107 Apartments Erin Apartments Masonry Vernacular c. 1921 PI110509
145 Mortuary — Masonry Vernacular c. 1925 PI10510
217-219 Apartments — Frame Vemacular c. 1919 PI10511
225 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1937 PI10512
262 Apartments — Frame Vemacular c. 1920 PI10513
270 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1925 PI10514
280 Apartments — Frame Vemacular c. 1921 PI10515
288 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1916 PI10516
288A Duplex — Masonry Vernacular c. 1916 PI10516
298 Apartments — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1924 PI10517
330 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 P110328
333 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1901 P110329
333A Duplex — Frame Vernacular c. 1926 PI10329
337 Apartments — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1910 PI10330
337A Single Family Dwelling — Masonry Vernacular c. 1947 PI110330
340 Apartments — Moderne c. 1939 P110331
341 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1901 PI10332
341A Apartments — Masonry Vernacular c. 1932 P110332
364 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1916 PI110356
364A Garage —_— Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI110356
405 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1921 PI10518
409 Apartments — Mission c. 1922 PI10519
Arlington Avenue
715 Church Unitarian Universalist Church Mediterranean Revival c. 1929 PI03052
735 Offices Arlington Centre Classical Revival c. 1936 PI10528
757 Food Bank St. Vincent de Paul Food Center ~ Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 PI10529
Beach Drive NE
144 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1937 Pending
340 Apartments Lantern Apartments Mediterranean Revival c. 1923 PI03161
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Beach Drive NE (cont.)

501 Hotel Vinoy Park Hotel (NR) Mediterranean Revival c. 1925 PI10527

Burlington Avenue N

803 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10530
809-811 Duplex — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI10531
809-811A  Duplex — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI10531
809-811B  Garage — ' Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI10531
817 " Duplex — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10532
817A Duplex — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 P110532
827-833 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10533
827-833A  Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10533
827-833B  Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10533
Calla Terrace N

801 Apartments — Frame Vernacular ¢. 1910 P110372
803 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vemacular c. 1921 PI10373
804 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI10374
805 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 Pending
805A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 Pending
806 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 Pending
806A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 Pending
807 Single Family Dwelling = — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 Pending
807A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 Pending

Central Avenue

215 Condominium Detroit Hotel Masonry Vemnacular c. 1888 PI00113
231-235 Retail/w Apts James Hotel Masonry Vernacular c. 1907 PI00991
241 Retail/w Apts Barber Groves Masonry Vernacular c. 1907 PI100313
243 Retail St. Charles Hotel Masonry Vernacular c. 1903 P100278
401-409 Offices Snell Arcade (NR) Mediterranean Revival c. 1928 P100279
425 Retail McCrory’s International Style c. 1920 P110535
410-424 Offices — Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 Pending
449 Offices Central Arcade Art Deco c. 1920 PI10536
465 Retail Thrifty Discount Moderne c. 1928 PI10537
475 Offices Kress Building (NR) Mediterranean Revival c. 1927 P100290
501 Retail/w Apts Rutland Building Modeme c. 1940 PI10538
526 Retail/w Apts. — Masonry Vernacular c. 1915 Pending
530-540 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1927 Pending
531 Retail Art Gallery Art Deco c. 1947 PI110540
535 Offices Alexander Hotel (NR) Beaux-Arts c. 1922 P100315
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Central Avenue (cont.)

548 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1929 Pending
550 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1935 Pending
556 Offices — Masonry Vernacular c. 1941 Pending
551-561 Retail — Art Deco c. 1921 P103056
567-575 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1952 Pending
601 Retail Tudor Antiques Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 P110542
611-615 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 PI10543
621-631 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 PI10544
633-635 Retail —_ Mission c. 1920 PI110545
641-647 Retail Crislip Arcade Masonry Vernacular c. 1925 P100888
648-650 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1923 Pending
649-653 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 PI10546
654-656 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1923 Pending
655-659 Retail — Moderne c. 1930 P110547
658-670 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 Pending
661-665 Retail — Moderne c. 1930 PI10548
667-671 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1930 PI10549
681 Retail — Art Deco c. 1925 PI10550
683-685 Retail — Masonry Vernacular c. 1921 P100270
687 Theater Alexander National Bank Renaissance Revival c. 1924 PI10551
689 Offices Green-Richman Arcade (NR) Mediterranean Revival c. 1924 PI10552
719 Retail Center for the Arts Art Deco c. 1925 PI10553
733 Retail Metro Charlie’s Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 PI10554
895 Offices Ninth Street Bank & Trust Classical Revival c. 1924 Pending
Grove Street N

324 Apartments — Mediterranean Revival c. 1928 PI10414
330 Duplex — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1925 PI10413
330A Utility Building — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI10413
340 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1923 PI10412
340A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1923 P110412
343 Apartments — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1923 PI10376
343A Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1923 PI10376
344 Apartments — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1910 P110401
346 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1913 PI10377
350-354 Apartments — Frame Vernacular c. 1912 PI10555
Lang Court N

330 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1923 PI110378
332 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1915 PI10379

334 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vemacular c. 1916 PI110380
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Lang Court N (cont.)
335 Duplex — Mission c. 1925 P110381
335A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 P110381
336 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1925 PI10382
345 Single Family Dwelling — Craftsman/Bungalow c. 1920 PI10383
345A Utility Building — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10383
349 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1920 PI10384
353 Duplex — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 P110386
353A Garage — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI10386
361 Duplex — Frame Vernacular c. 1921 PI10388
361A Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1921 PI10388
Mirror Lake Drive N
200 Residential — Masonry Vernacular c. 1920 PI10557
216 Single Family Dwelling — Frame Vernacular c. 1925 PI10558
248 Offices — Mediterranean Revival c. 1941 PI10559
250 Residential <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>